2015

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, vs. William Tirado, Defendant/  
Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS**

This Court has appellate jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code §78A-4-103(2)(e).

**ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

Whether trial counsel committed ineffective assistance of counsel by laboring under an actual conflict of interest which adversely affected counsel's performance. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised for the first time on appeal are reviewed for correctness. *State v. Vos*, 2007 UT App 215, ¶ 9, 164 P.3d 1258.

**CONTROLLING STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

All controlling statutory provisions are set forth in full in the Addenda.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Nature of the Case**

William Tirado appeals from the judgment, sentence, and commitment of the Honorable Ernie W. Jones, Second District Court, from a conviction of Arranging the Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a second degree felony, and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, a class A misdemeanor, after he was convicted by a jury.

### **B. Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition**

On August 1, 2012, the State charged Tirado with Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, a Class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code §58-37a-5(1). R.001. A separate count of Arranging to Distribute a Controlled Substance, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code §58-37-8(1)(a)(ii), was subsequently added by amended information filed in October, 2013. R.031. A preliminary hearing was held on December 4, 2013 and Tirado was bound over for trial upon a finding of probable cause. R.043-46.

On May 12, 2014, the case was tried to a jury who found Tirado guilty on both counts of the information. R.078-84.

Tirado was sentenced October 15, 2014 to statutory terms in the Utah State Prison. R.172; 218. The judgment was entered on October 20, 2014. R.174.

On October 21, 2014, Tirado filed a notice of appeal in Second District Court. R.176.

Samuel Newton was initially assigned as appellate counsel for Tirado, and on May 27, 2015 Newton filed a brief and a motion to remand based on Rule 23B. However, in June a Stipulated Motion for Temporary Remand to Address Potential Conflict of Interest

was filed and granted. In that motion Samuel Newton disclosed that he had a conflict of interest based on his representation of both Tirado and Carl Courtney. On remand the district court concluded that a conflict existed and assigned current appellate counsel to represent Tirado.

After having reviewed the case and consulting with Tirado, current appellate counsel moved to strike the brief and 23B motion filed by Samuel Newton. That motion was granted by this Court. Tirado now simultaneously files this brief and a Rule 23B motion for remand.

#### **NOTE REGARDING CITATIONS**

Because this brief is filed consistent with this Court's Order Pertaining to Rule 23B, many of the factual assertions in this brief will be cited from the Attachments to Tirado's simultaneously-filed Rule 23B Motion to Remand, rather than being cited directly to the record. Tirado anticipates supplementing this brief in the event that this Court grants his motion for remand and further evidence is placed on the record.

#### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

Jason Vanderwarf, a police officer working with the Multijurisdictional Counterdrug Task Force, testified that on July 26, 2012, he had an informant named Lorenzo Gomez who contacted him and said that he had agreed with the defendant, William Tirado, to purchase two eight balls of methamphetamine for \$440. R.217:110-12. An eight ball was approximately 3.5 grams, so around 7 grams total. R.217:111. The eight ball would have at least 20 individual uses in it. R.217:186-87.

Gomez knew Tirado previously and knew his voice. R.217:170-71. Gomez and Tirado talked privately and agreed to the deal before Gomez decided to take it to the police. R.217:171-73.<sup>1</sup> Vanderwarf decided to set up a sting operation to apprehend the dealer. R.217:112. Gomez, the State's confidential informant, was a convicted felon who was getting paid anywhere from \$50 to \$200 to create drug deals for the police. R.217:155-56, 170. He had his own drug charges to work off and was an admitted drug addict who was still using at the time of this event. R.217:180, 185.

The officer drove by Tirado's house and witnessed him standing out in front with Carl Courtney, whom the officer "had prior dealings with" for drug offenses. R.217:112. Vanderwarf, Gomez and another police officer, Cox, parked around the corner from the home, right by the library, and made a phone call. R.217:113, 173. Vanderwarf had a recording device that he used to record the phone call as it was on speaker phone. R.217:113.

Gomez made the phone call to 801-686-6567 and Tirado answered. R.217:114.<sup>2</sup> Gomez said the caller was Tirado. R.217:173. Vanderwarf said he recognized the caller as Tirado from previous dealings two years earlier and his subsequent conversation with

---

<sup>1</sup> Neither Gomez nor Vanderwarf mentioned this phone call in the preliminary hearing. Indeed, Vanderwarf seemed to imply that it was Gomez's first recorded call where the agreement to purchase two eight-balls took place. R.216:23-24.

<sup>2</sup> Vanderwarf testified that Tirado gave 801-686-6567 as his contact number when he was booked into jail and his address as 653 25<sup>th</sup> Street (about a half a block away from the corner). R.217:136-37; State's Ex. 8.

him while he was in custody. R.217:114, 149-50.<sup>3</sup> Gomez asked Tirado if “he had it” and then confirmed “four-four-zero.” R.217:114, 174.

There was no specific mention of drugs on any of the phone calls. Gomez said the \$440 referred to a quarter ounce of methamphetamine. R.217:175-76. The officer also testified he knew this was a drug transaction from the language used: Gomez’s prior (unrecorded) call where eight balls were mentioned, the “do you got it” phrase, “four-four-zero” and “they just left,” which the officer testified were part of “their own little language” which he said “is, without a doubt,” the language of “a drug transaction.” R.217:151-54. Gomez said the call involved where they should meet and if he had money on him, but he added that when he asked if he had it, he meant “if he had the dope, if he had it on him.” R.217:174, 184.

Gomez then made a second call that was played for the jury.<sup>4</sup> In that call, Gomez told Tirado to meet him across from the library—this was because the officers did not want Gomez to cross the street “for his safety and officer safety.” R.217:145, 175. Officers then searched Gomez, gave him cash and fitted him with a bug. R.217:116, 174. Gomez then walked toward 25<sup>th</sup> Street and Jefferson, 490 feet from a Baptist church. R.217:116-17, 124. Vanderwarf and Officer Sean Grogan watched Tirado walking

---

<sup>3</sup> No parties self-identified on the tape. R.217:150.

<sup>4</sup> Vanderwarf earlier testified that only one phone call was made and that no subsequent phone calls occurred, but later changed that story. R.217:116.

toward the corner. R.217:117, 191.<sup>5</sup> They could also see Gomez standing on the corner. R.217:123, 191.

Gomez asked Tirado to come over across the street. R.217:145, 177. Gomez asked him if he “got it” and said that his friend was going to pick him up and he had to hurry “and get this or he’s going to say F it.” R.217:178. Tirado asked Gomez if he had the money on him and Gomez said that he did. R.217:178. But Tirado told Gomez that he did not have it because “his dude left.” R.217:183. Vanderwarf could hear Tirado (over the recording) say “my friend’s already left” or “they’ve already left” or “my dude just left” and the two bantering. R.217:123, 178. Because agents told Gomez he could not cross the street, neither person crossed—“they both held at their corners.” R.217:124. As one officer put it, Gomez “was on the north side of the road, the defendant was on the south side of the road, and they were mostly conversing back and forth across the street, mostly trying to get one another to cross the street to meet.” R.217:191. Gomez ended up just walking away. R.217:124, 177-78. No actual drug transaction took place and the two never met. R.217:163.

Vanderwarf decided to take Tirado and Carl Courtney into custody. R.217:125, 128. Vanderwarf testified “I had active charges [on Courtney] and was actually looking for him that I had for distribution of narcotics.” R.217:128.

Officers found no drugs or paraphernalia on Tirado. R.217:151, 154-55. While Tirado was in custody, officers obtained Courtnee Reynolds’ (Tirado’s fiancé)

---

<sup>5</sup> Gomez testified inconsistently at the preliminary hearing that Tirado was already there when he arrived. R.216:15.

permission to search their home. R.217:129-35, 191, 194-96. They did not locate any drugs in the search. R.217:167, 196. But they were able to locate items of paraphernalia, including some pipes, baggies and some scales, which the officers believed could have been used for distribution purposes. R.217:129-35, 160, 168, 191-92. Vanderwarf interviewed Tirado about these items and he “admitted that it was all his”—“that he was a meth user.” R.217:129. He said he used “enough to get by.” R.217:130. Vanderwarf did not book Tirado for arranging a drug deal, but for possession of drug paraphernalia, which he said they delayed screening to protect their informant. R.217:157-58.<sup>6</sup>

Carl Courtney possessed of 2.1 grams of methamphetamine, well shy of the 7 grams needed for the deal. R.217:142, 160, 164, 198.<sup>7</sup> Vanderwarf also interviewed Courtney, who said that “if he needed to sell [the methamphetamine], he would sell from that specific amount.” R.217:138. The drugs located on Courtney were found with other “separate empty baggies” which the officer opined could be used for redistribution and repackaging. R.217:142, 199. Officer Jensen testified the amount on Carl Courtney was a “user’s amount”, depending upon the user. R.217:201.

Vanderwarf had previously bought drugs from Courtney himself and testified that “from my knowledge of Carl Courtney, he deals directly to his people” and did not use a

---

<sup>6</sup> Defense counsel pointed out at trial that Tirado was not charged for a year and a half until after the State convicted Courtney of his crime, insinuating that somehow the charge was not believed to be sustainable at the time. R.217:260-61.

<sup>7</sup> One officer testified that it was 1.75 grams, which was “typically a user’s amount.” R.217:200-01.

middleman. R.217:165.<sup>8</sup> He admitted a “possible theory” was that Courtney used Tirado as a middleman to arrange the deal. R.217:166. Gomez believed as much, saying that based on his prior interactions with Tirado he obtained his drugs from Carl Courtney. R.217:179. But Gomez said all but one time he purchased drugs from Tirado directly. R.217:181-82.

Even though Tirado was not in possession of drugs and the amount found on Courtney was not consistent with what the State contended was the arranged deal, the State argued that Tirado acted as a middleman. When questioned about charging Tirado with arranging to distribute when no drugs were found on Tirado, Vanderwarf responded: “But for the arrangement there doesn’t have to be drugs found. All that is—all it requires is the act of the arrangement for the distribution of narcotics. This is a case wherein which Mr. Tirado, using a middleman, Carl Courtney, to possibly get the money first, go meet with Carl Courtney.” R.217:163-64.

Middlemen don’t always have the drug, because they guarantee whether the person has money and they act as lookouts. R.217:146. There could be other scouts present to make sure the scene is clear and no police are around. R.217:147. Vanderwarf explained the different quantities as a fear of robbery from the dealer’s end. R.217:147. They may want to make sure the person has money and then take them to a new location—to “clear their tail” and make sure no one is following them. R.217:148. Sometimes they intend to rob a person as well and not give them any drugs. R.217:149.

---

<sup>8</sup> Though the officer later retracted that and said that Courtney had used middle men as well. R.217:166-67.

Tirado presented testimony from his fiancé, Courtney Reynolds, who said that she told the officers they could not come into the house, but that they “pushed the door open and followed us back in.” R.217:210-13. She said they searched the room without a search warrant. R.217:213. The State called Officer Derek Draper in rebuttal, who said that they asked Reynolds for permission to enter and to search and that she gave it to them. R.217:218-19.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Tirado’s attorney, Sean Young, also represented Carl Courtney, who was in reality Tirado’s codefendant. Carl Courtney, although not charged as a codefendant in the case, was arrested at the scene with Tirado, was discovered to have methamphetamine on his person, was charged and convicted based on the same evidence presented in this case, and his statements were admitted against Tirado. Tirado’s trial counsel had a duty to discovery and present a defense, to cross examine the witnesses against Tirado, and to direct blame away from Tirado on to codefendants. Because counsel also had a duty to Carl Courtney to avoid self-incrimination, a duty of confidentiality, a duty of loyalty, Sean Young had a conflict of interest. Because counsel failed to call Carl Courtney as a witness or confront his statements admitted against Tirado that conflict affected counsel’s performance. This is an actual conflict of interest and constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY OPERATING UNDER AN ACTUAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

#### **A. Relevant Law**

##### **Statutes and Rules**

Several of the Utah Rules of Professional Responsibility are implicated in this appeal. The first and most basic rule governing an attorney's obligation to his client is Rule 1.1 Competence. "A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation." The comments to this rule give some insight into how "thoroughness and preparation" can be measured.

"Competent handling of a particular matter includes inquiry into and analysis of the factual and legal elements of the problem and use of methods and procedures meeting the standards of competent practitioners. It also includes adequate preparation."

Put simply, in a criminal case an attorney must be adequately prepared to confront the evidence presented against his client. That also mean knowing the who the codefendants and witnesses will be.

Another relevant rule is Rule 1.6 Confidentiality of Information. "A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent..." except in several enumerated circumstances. Thus an attorney's disclosure of any information about his client, without informed consent is generally prohibited. This is especially true regarding information that could potentially be adverse

to the client's interests or reputation. This rule is tied directly to a lawyer's duty of loyalty. When a lawyer learns information about his client, his duty is to keep that information confidential, to keep his mouth shut about anything that has to do with his client unless disclosure is authorized by the client or is part of the representation.

Rule 1.7 Conflict of Interest: Concurrent Clients says

"a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of interest exists if: (a)(1) The representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or (a)(2) There is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer."

The comments to this rule instruct an attorney who discovers a potential conflict of interest to

"1) clearly identify the client or clients; 2) determine whether a conflict of interest exists; 3) decide whether the representation may be undertaken despite the existence of a conflict, i.e., whether the conflict is consentable; and, 4) if so... obtain their informed consent, confirmed in writing."

Rule 1.7 Comment 2. Lawyers should adopt reasonable procedures to determine whether a conflict of interest exists. In criminal law reasonable procedures include reviewing the evidence to see whether multiple people are implicated, or if witnesses may be called, and if so, whether the lawyer's duties to others may impact the lawyer's duties to the defendant. When unforeseeable developments arise creating a conflict of interest "the lawyer may have the option to withdraw from one of the representations in order to avoid the conflict." Rule 1.7 Comment 3.

“Even where there is no direct adverseness, a conflict of interest exists if there is a significant risk that a lawyer’s ability to consider, recommend or carry out an appropriate course of action for the client will be materially limited as a result of the lawyer’s other responsibilities or interests.” In some instances, a lawyer representing multiple parties may be “materially limited in the lawyer’s ability to recommend or advocate all possible positions that each might take because of the lawyer’s duty of loyalty to the others. The conflict in effect forecloses alternatives that would otherwise be available to the client.”

Rule 1.7 Comment 8.

“The potential for conflict of interest in representing multiple defendants in a criminal case is so grave that ordinarily a lawyer should decline to represent more than one codefendant.” Comment 23. “A conflict of interest exists... if there is a significant risk that a lawyer’s action on behalf of one client will materially limit the lawyer’s effectiveness in representing another client in a different case... If there is significant risk of material limitation, then absent informed consent of the affected clients, the lawyer must refuse one of the representations or withdraw from one or both matters.”

Rule 1.7 Comment 24.

“As to the duty of confidentiality, continued common representation will almost certainly be inadequate if one client asks the lawyer not to disclose to the other client information relevant to the common representation. This is so because the lawyer has an equal duty of loyalty to each client, and each client has the right to be informed of anything bearing on the representation that might affect that client’s interests and the right to expect that the lawyer will use that information to that client’s benefit.”

Rule Comment 31.

Rule 1.8 Conflict of Interest: Current Clients: Specific Rules says:

“[a] lawyer shall not use information relating to representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client unless the client gives informed consent, except as permitted or required by these Rules.”

The comments expand the rule.

“Use of information relating to the representation to the disadvantage of the client violates the lawyer’s duty of loyalty. Paragraph (b) applies when the information is used to benefit either the lawyer or a third person, such as another client or business associate of the lawyer.”

Rule 1.8 Comment 5.

These rules can be combined to say that lawyers should be cautious when undertaking the representation of a new client because the lawyer’s duties include the duty not to represent multiple clients with conflicting interests. This is especially true in a criminal case where the lawyer is faced with the potential of representing two defendants who have been charged with crimes arising from the same evidence. This is compounded even further in cases where one of the clients has provided a statement implicating the other client because the duty to protect one client at the expense is so readily apparent no matter which client the lawyer chooses to protect.

### **Cases on Actual Conflicts of Interests**

According to *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) “[w]hen a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” “Representation of a criminal defendant entails

certain basic duties” including “a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668, 688.

Generally, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel has two components; “[f]irst, the defendant must show that the performance was deficient”, and, “[s]econd, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. However, in some contexts, prejudice is presumed. One such instance is “when counsel is burdened by an actual conflict of interest” because “[i]n those circumstances, counsel breaches the duty of loyalty...” *Strickland*, at 692. The harmless error rule (or the requirement of demonstrating prejudice) is not necessary because “in the case of joint representation of conflicting interests the evil... is in what the advocate finds himself compelled to *refrain* from doing, not only at trial but also as to possible pretrial plea negotiations and in the sentencing process... Thus, an inquiry into a claim of harmless error here would require, unlike most cases, unguided speculation.” *Holloway v. Arkansas*, 435 U.S. 475, 490, 98 S.Ct. 1173, 55 L.Ed.2d 426 (1978). In these cases, prejudice is presumed “if the defendant demonstrates that counsel ‘actively represented conflicting interests’ and that ‘an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer’s performance.’” *Strickland*, at 692 (*citing Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335, 348, 350, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980)).

“An actual conflict of interest results if counsel was forced to make choices advancing other interests to the detriment of his client.” *United States v. Alvarez*, 137 F.3d 1249, 1251 (10th Cir. 1998). In *Alvarez* the defendant claimed ineffective assistance of counsel based on an actual conflict of interest where he claimed his retained

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