2016

## **State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, vs. William Tirado, Defendant/ Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant argues that trial counsel, Sean Young, was ineffective due to an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected his performance. Defendant alleges that Young had an actual conflict of interest because his loyalties were divided between Defendant and Courtney. Because of the divided loyalties, he argues, Young did not call Courtney as a witness to support the defense that Defendant neither knew about Courtney's drugs nor arranged to sell them.

To prevail under the Sixth Amendment, Defendant must show that Young had an actual conflict of interest—he was in a position where he could advance Courtney's interests to Defendant's detriment. Defendant also must show that the actual conflict adversely affected Young's performance—that he actually subverted Defendant's interests to advance Courtney's.

Defendant suggests that Young chose not to put Courtney on the stand in order to safeguard Courtney's confidential communications to his counsel, maintain Courtney's attorney/client relationship, and preserve the continued cooperation of the State in plea negotiations and sentencing recommendations for Courtney. He seeks a rule 23B remand to present evidence in support of his claim.

But the evidence he proffers with his motion fails to establish any of the concerns he alleges in support of his claim. Rather, the proffer and the record show that Young's representation of Courtney ended when Courtney was sentenced and his case was closed five months before Defendant went to trial. Defendant provides no evidence concerning the "other cases" in which Young was also allegedly appointed counsel for Courtney, preventing an assessment of whether any of those cases gave rise to a conflict of interest. Moreover, according to the rule 23B evidence, not only did Courtney want to testify, but his proposed testimony would involve no confidential or potentially incriminating information, and nothing he said could have affected his dealings with the State in a case that ended five months before trial. Defendant thus fails to show that Young was in a position to subvert Defendant's interests to Courtney's interests.

Even if Defendant has established that an actual conflict of interest existed, he must also prove that it adversely affected Young's performance. To do this, he must show that Young actually subverted Defendant's interests to advance Courtney's.

The record shows the opposite. Young may have legitimately decided not to call Courtney for two reasons. First, his testimony does not show that Defendant did not arrange a sale of meth. Second, his testimony

was subject to impeachment, making its marginal utility more harmful than helpful. Moreover, where the State's theory did not require that the jury find that Defendant was the middleman for Courtney, Courtney's testimony would not have done much to rebut the State's theory. Defendant thus fails to show that any alleged conflict adversely affected Young's performance. His remand request should therefore be rejected.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **DEFENDANT HAS NOT CARRIED HIS BURDEN TO SHOW THAT TRIAL COUNSEL HAD AN ACTUAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST THAT ADVERSELY AFFECTED HIS PERFORMANCE**

Based wholly on speculation and extra-record evidence attached to his contemporaneously-filed rule 23B motion, Defendant alleges that trial counsel, Sean Young, had an actual conflict of interest because his loyalties were divided between Defendant's interests and Courtney's. Aplt.Br. 10-24 (citing extra-record evidence attached to rule 23B motion). Specifically, he claims that his trial counsel's representation of both men created an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected Defendant's trial by preventing Young from calling Courtney to testify so Defendant could "distance himself" from Courtney "in order to challenge the State's argument that Tirado was acting as his middleman." *Id.* at 22. Defendant claims the only

reason Courtney did not testify was Young's concern that, if called to testify in Defendant's case, Courtney would compromise his own attorney/client relationship with Young, risk revealing confidential communications and "potentially incriminating evidence," and jeopardize his ability to obtain favorable negotiations and sentencing recommendations from the State in his cases. *Id.* at 22-23.

Neither the evidence in the appellate record nor the extra-record evidence attached to Defendant's rule 23B motion, if true, supports Defendant's claim that he was denied his right to conflict-free counsel.

Defendant's sole claim on appeal is that he was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel because his attorney labored under an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected his performance. It depends in large part on the extra-record proffer made with his rule 23B motion.

But even accepting the proffer as true, it is insufficient when read with the rest of the record to prove either element of his claims. Therefore, the Court may affirm the conviction without granting a remand to prove the proffered evidence. If, however, the Court disagrees, then the appropriate course would be to remand the case for an evidentiary hearing.

- A. To prevail on his ineffectiveness claim Defendant must show not only an actual conflict, but that the alleged conflict adversely affected trial counsel's performance.**

Defendant claims that Young's representation of both Courtney and himself created an actual conflict of interest that forced Young to choose between his duties to him and to Courtney. Aplt.Br. 19-24. Defendant has not shown that his counsel either could or actually did subvert his interests to advance Courtney's.

Normally, a defendant claiming ineffective assistance of his trial counsel bears the "heavy burden of demonstrating that (1) trial counsel rendered deficient performance that 'fell below an objective standard of reasonableness' and (2) defendant was 'prejudiced' by the deficient performance of trial counsel." *State v. Stidham*, 2014 UT App 32, ¶18, 320 P.3d 696 (quoting *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)) (footnote omitted). Prejudice usually requires a showing of "'a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.'" *Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 166 (2002) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

In the context of Defendant's claim that trial counsel had a conflict of interest, however, Defendant must show both that (1) Young was in a position that would force him to make choices advancing Courtney's

interests to the detriment of his interests, and (2) Young actually did so. See *Mickens*, 535 U.S. at 171-72; *Lafferty v. State*, 2007 UT 73, ¶62, 175 P.3d 530; *State v. Taylor*, 947 P.2d 681, 686 (Utah 1997); see also *United States v. Alvarez*, 137 F.3d 1249, 1251-52 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998). When counsel's choices can legitimately be attributed to advancing the defense, then it cannot be said that counsel made them to advance interests in competition with Defendant's. See *Alvarez*, 137 F.3d at 1252 (no Sixth Amendment conflict of interest where "none of counsel's tactics or procedures benefitted the other codefendant over Mr. Alvarez.").

If Defendant can prove both, then he does not have to prove traditional *Strickland* prejudice—that counsel's representation undermines confidence in the trial outcome. But that does not mean he need prove no harm at all. As stated, he must prove that counsel actually advanced competing interests to his detriment. See, e.g., *Mickens*, 535 U.S. at 171-72. He has not done so.

**B. Even if the 23B evidence were in the appellate record, Defendant cannot show that Young could or did advance Courtney's interests to his detriment.**

Even taking Defendant's rule 23B allegations as true, they do not show that his counsel had divided loyalties at the time he represented Defendant or that he advanced Courtney's interests to Defendant's



detriment. His rule 23B proffer, along with the record, shows only that (1) Young concurrently represented Courtney in a related matter only until Courtney was sentenced five months before Defendant's trial; (2) Young negotiated a plea for Courtney to a reduced charge, which plea was entered nearly a month before Defendant's preliminary hearing and five months before Defendant's trial; (3) Courtney did not try to appeal his sentence; (4) Courtney does not attest that he intends to challenge his plea in post-conviction review; (5) both Courtney and Defendant knew that Young was representing the other; (6) Courtney knew Defendant was going to go to trial; (7) Defendant wanted Courtney to testify on Defendant's behalf; (8) Courtney was willing to testify that he was arrested with 2.1 grams of methamphetamine and pled guilty to attempted possession; (9) Courtney was willing to testify that he knew of Defendant's phone call with Gomez but did not know what the two talked about; (10) Courtney "did not arrange" to have Defendant act as a middleman to arrange a sale of meth to Gomez; (11) the State did not contend at Defendant's trial that Courtney was necessarily the person for whom Defendant acted as the middleman; and (12) both Courtney and Defendant were unhappy with Young's representation.

Accepting Defendant's rule 23B evidence as true, it does not establish that Young was forced to neglect his defense of Defendant in order to further Courtney's interests. Young's representation of Courtney for the charges that arose out of the same events ended five months before Defendant's trial—there have been no further proceedings. R78; State's Exh. 10; Courtney Docket at 17-18. While there certainly was some overlap in the two cases, Defendant does not explain how Young could have done anything more for Courtney in a closed case, let alone something that would have harmed Defendant's interests in his ongoing case. *Cf. United States v. Gallegos*, 39 F.3d 276, 278-79 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994) (no denial of right to conflict-free counsel occurred as a result of successive representation of defendants where prior representation concluded before undertaking Gallegos' representation).

Defendant suggests that there was a conflict arising out of Courtney's interests involving "other cases" in which Young was his counsel. Appt.Br. 22; Affidavit of Carl Mack Courtney ["Courtney Affidavit "] at 2 (in Addendum B). He necessarily implies that Young somehow could have advanced Courtney's interests relative to those cases.

His claim is purely speculative in all respects. The only information he provides about the other cases is Courtney's claim that they existed at the

same time as the charges involving his arrest at Defendant's house and that Young represented him in those cases as well.<sup>2</sup> Courtney Affidavit at 2. He proffers nothing about the charges or the status of the cases at any time relevant to this case—they may all have been completed prior to Defendant's trial. Neither does he reveal any connection between Courtney's anticipated testimony in this case and any of the other cases. Because not all conflicts rise to the level of an actual conflict, the mere assertion that Young represented both Defendant and Courtney in unrelated matters at the same time does not meet Defendant's burden of "demonstrating with specificity that the actual conflict existed." *State v. Person*, 2006 UT App 288, ¶15, 140 P.3d 584; *see also Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335, 348, 350 (1980) (holding Sixth Amendment not violated by possible or potential conflicts); *accord State v. Maughan*, 2008 UT 27, ¶26, 182 P.3d 903.

Not only does Defendant provide insufficient information about the "other cases," but he offers no evidence besides their mere existence to show that Young's representation of Courtney in cases unrelated to Defendant's prosecution forced Young to choose between Defendant and Courtney here. Certainly, nothing in Courtney's anticipated testimony

---

<sup>2</sup> Counsel asserts the cases were in the same court, but he provides no authority for the claim. Aplt.Br 22.

establishes the claimed conflict. Courtney would have testified that he "pleaded guilty to attempted possession of a controlled substance" and that the plea was based on his possession of 2.1 grams of methamphetamine when he was arrested with Defendant. Courtney Affidavit at 2-3. Courtney in fact pled guilty to attempted possession with intent to distribute, and the State established his plea at Defendant's trial by means of a certified copy of the judgment. *See* State's Exh. 10. The facts underlying his plea were included in the same exhibit and were independently established by Young on cross-examination of Officer Vanderwarf. R217:163-64; State's Exh. 10. Thus, Courtney's testimony on this point would have been cumulative and unnecessary.

Courtney also would have testified that he knew Defendant and Gomez spoke on the phone before Courtney was arrested, that he did not know what they were talking about, and that he did not arrange to have Defendant act as a middleman to arrange to sell meth to Gomez. Courtney Affidavit at 2-3. Defendant does not show how excluding this testimony at Defendant's trial furthered any of Courtney's interests in the "other cases" to Defendant's detriment.

Though Defendant posits that using Courtney's testimony would have compromised the relationship between Young and Courtney, the

record is otherwise. Courtney attests that he was willing to testify. Further, not calling Courtney to offer this testimony would not have furthered Courtney's interests because it would not have incriminated Courtney in anything beyond what he had pleaded to already.

It is equally unclear how the anticipated testimony reflected confidential and potentially incriminating communications between Young and Courtney. Courtney was already prosecuted for the events occurring at Defendant's house, there is no evidence that any of the testimony had any relationship to the "other cases," and the new information is not incriminating.

Finally, Defendant contends Young acted out of concern for preserving Courtney's chances to obtain favorable plea agreements and sentencing recommendations from the State. Aplt.Br. 22-23. To the extent he means that Young worried that calling Courtney to testify for Defendant would lead the State to retaliate against Courtney, the claim lacks any basis in the record or the 23B evidence. First, the proffer does not show that there would have been any outstanding cases against Courtney by the time Courtney testified. Second, he proffers nothing from Young himself that Young actually was concerned about retaliation if Courtney testified. Third, he does not explain why the State would retaliate in any way for Courtney's

testimony, which was essentially cumulative of other evidence in the record.

In sum, Defendant provides nothing more than speculation which, at best, merely suggests the possibility of a conflict of interest. Even assuming the truth of his 23B evidence, nothing illustrates that Young was compelled to choose between Courtney's interests and Defendant's. Without an actual conflict, no remand is necessary, and Defendant's ineffective assistance claim fails. *See Person*, 2006 UT App 288, ¶16.

And Defendant has not shown that Young actually subverted his interests to further Courtney's. Defendant posits that Courtney's testimony was vital to counter the State's evidence that Defendant was acting as Courtney's middleman. Aplt.Br. 21-22. He then extrapolates that, because Courtney's testimony was crucial, the only possible explanation for not calling him was to somehow advance Courtney's interests.

This argument is insufficient on its face because, as shown, Defendant has not established how not calling Courtney helped Courtney. Certainly counsel may be deficient for not calling a crucial, available witness. But without showing that the decision actually advanced the crucial witness's interests, that shows only objectively unreasonable representation that carries with it the burden of also proving prejudice.

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